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P.O. Box 115512
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	BERNARD L. WAGNER, 

                          Employee, 

                                   Applicant,
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ANCHORAGE SCHOOL DISTRICT,

                           Self-Insured Employer,

                                   Defendant.
	)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No. 200701423
AWCB Decision No. 12-0003
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on January 6, 2012


Bernard Wagner’s (Employee) claim for medical benefits was heard on December 5, 2011.  Chancy Croft represented Employee.  David Floerchinger represented Anchorage School District (Employer).  The record closed on December 7, 2011.

ISSUE

Employee contends he is entitled to future medical treatment for his neck, shoulders, back, and mental conditions resulting from a January 22, 2007 work injury.  Employer contends Employee’s shoulder and back conditions are unrelated to the work injury and Employee’s neck and mental conditions consisted of temporary aggravations of preexisting conditions, which have resolved.  Employee and Employer agree Employer has paid for Employee’s work-related medical treatment to date and the parties’ dispute involves only future medical care. 

Is Employee entitled to future medical treatment for his shoulders, neck, back and mental conditions?


FINDINGS OF FACT

A review of the entire record and the parties’ stipulation establishes the following facts by a preponderance of the evidence:
1) On September 5, 1996, Employee underwent a cervical spine magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and the impression was no disk herniations. There was mild disk bulging at both C5-6 and C6-7 with foraminal spurring on the left side at C5-6 and bilaterally, greater on the left, at C6-7.  (Stipulation of Facts at 1, December 5, 2011).

2) On January 24, 2004, Employee was injured while cross-country skiing.  Stacy Young, D.C., treated Employee on or around January 28, 2004, for a sprain/strain of the cervical and thoracic spine.  Id.

3) January 28, 2004 through March 25, 2004, Dr. Young treated Employee at Healthwise Care Center & Physical Therapy for his skiing injury.  The assessment was cerviothoracic and right shoulder sprain/strain injury. Dr. Young stated, “He suffers from posterior and inferior right shoulder capsule tightness and weakness.”  Id.

4) On February 4, 2004, Employee reported to Dr. Young a stressful work environment.  
Dr. Young wrote a letter to Employee’s employer, United States Postal Service (USPS), excusing Employee from work from January 28, 2004 through February 3, 2004, due to cervical and thoracic sprain/strain.  Id.

5) On February 10, 2004 and February 12, 2004, Employee reported to Dr. Young he felt stress from work aggravated his back.  Id. at 2.

6) On February 20, 2004, Dr. Young wrote a letter to USPS, excusing Employee from work that day due to spasm in the right trapezius, levator scapulae and rhomboid musculature.  Dr. Young also noted Employee reported work was stressful.  Id.

7) On February 23, 2004, Dr. Young treated Employee.  Employee reported less tightness, as well as his right shoulder felt good.  Id.

8) On February 25, 2004, Employee explained to Dr. Young why Employee dropped off a Medical Status Report Form and Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Form.  Employee also reported “difficult communication” with his supervisor, and stated he had been released from work temporarily to seek evaluation from a psychologist.  Id.

9) On March 9, 2004, Employee continued to report his continued tightness is primarily stress related, but treatment was helpful.  Id.

10) On March 18, 2004, Dr. Young signed the FMLA form left by Employee.  She stated Employee continued to be treated two times a week, Employee reported the mental stress caused him to become tight and uncomfortable in his neck and upper back and occasionally in his low back, and the treatments helped relieve stress.  Dr. Young anticipated three to five more weeks of treatment.  Id.

11) On March 25, 2004, Employee reported to Dr. Young he felt he was recovered almost completely from his skiing injuries.  He reported he continued to feel discomfort in his neck and upper back due to stress but stated it was related to his situation at work.  Id.

12) On October 15, 2004, Patricia Skala, D.O., treated Employee and noted back pain and intermittent migraines.  She also noted a plan to refer Employee to Jim Halfpenny.  Id.

13) On October 19, 2004, James Halfpenny, PT, evaluated Employee.  Mr. Halfpenny noted Employee was unable to work, secondary to dysfunction, Employee reported increased work stress about four months ago with the onset of mid-back pain, and Employee recently tested for a new job, driving a bus for the Anchorage School District (ASD) with onset of pain again.  
Mr. Halfpenny recommended Employee attend rehabilitative therapy twice weekly for four weeks.  Id.

14) On October 29, 2004, Dr. Skala treated Employee for cervical and thoracic back pain, migraines, as well as chronic nausea.  Dr. Skala noted a flat affect.  Id.

15) Mr. Halfpenny treated Employee twice before Employee was discharged.  Employee reported feeling better on November 24, 2004, stating he had started working for ASD driving a bus.  Id.

16) On May 25, 2005, Dr. Skala treated Employee and assessed Migraine Cephalgia.  Id. at 3.

17) On June 1, 2005, Dr. Skala noted an improvement of Employee’s headaches as well as arthritis symptoms in his hands.  X-rays were ordered for neck pain.  Id.

18) On June 3, 2005, Employee underwent a cervical spine series of x-rays.  The impression was degenerative disc disease with spur formation at C5-C6 primarily, which was less prominent at C6-C7, and some onset of spurring at C4 was noted as well.  Id.

19) On June 20, 2005, Dr. Skala saw Employee for a follow up of the x-rays.  He assessed neck pain with radiculopathy.  An MRI was ordered.  Id.

20) On June 22, 2005, Employee had an MRI of the cervical spine.  The impression was of a mild spinal stenosis secondary to posterior spondylosis accompanied by a very small central disc protrusion at C5-6 and a mild annular degeneration at C6-7.  No significant foraminal stenosis was identified.  Id.

21) On August 2, 2005, Dr. Louis Kralick evaluated Employee and noted Employee retired from the postal service about a year ago, and was currently employed as a bus driver for tourist trips during the summer and for the school district the rest of the year.  Dr. Kralick did not feel it likely Employee was going to improve with continued conservative management, due to the degree of stenosis.  Dr. Kralick recommended operative intervention, which would consist of a two level disc excision osteophyte removal and spinal canal decompression with instrumented fusion at C5-6 and C6-7.  Id.

22) On August 25, 2005, Employee underwent a pre-operative cervical spine x-ray series.  The impression was significant degenerative cervical disc changes at C5-6 and C6-7.  Id.

23) On August 26, 2005, Dr. Thomas Dietrich treated Employee and diagnosed moderately severe degenerative cervical disc disease at C5-6 and C6-7, clinical indications of cervical spinal cord involvement and depression.  Dr. Dietrich did not attribute any of his diagnoses to any work incident or injury.  Dr. Dietrich opined Employee was not medically stable, nor capable of returning to his work as a school bus driver until Employee had better motility of his neck.  Id.

24) On August 29, 2005, Dr. Kralick performed an anterior diskectomy and interbody fusion on instrumentation C5, C6 and C7, at Alaska Regional Hospital.  Employee was discharged on September 2, 2005.  Id.

25) On October 10, 2005, Employee had an x-ray series of the cervical spine.  The impression was a stable postoperative grafted and instrumented anterior two level cervical fusion.  Id.

26) On January 22, 2007, Employee was assaulted by a high school student in a high school parking lot.  Employee was reportedly punched, and kicked in the head and neck, face and ear. He was seen at Alaska Regional Hospital Emergency Room complaining of neck, head and ear pain.  The diagnoses given were: 1) facial contusion, and 2) closed head injury.  Employee did not believe he lost consciousness but did feel a crunch in the back of his head and complained of neck pain.  He did not believe he was kicked in the chest or abdomen.  Id. at 4.

27) On January 22, 2007, Employee had a CT scan of his head; the impression was negative. Employee also had a CT scan of his cervical spine; the impression was no evidence of acute fracture or malalignment.  Post-operative changes of anterior fusion C5-C7 were noted, as well as severe degenerative changes posterior facets as described, multiple levels.  A CT scan of Employee’s face was also taken; no facial fracture was identified.  Minimal right anterior ethmoid chronic sinusitis was noted.  Id.

28) On January 24, 2007, Dr. Skala treated Employee, prescribed medication for pain and inflammation, and restricted Employee from work through Monday.  However, on the physician’s report of the same date, Dr. Skala wrote Employee was not released and it was unknown for how long.  Id.

29) On January 29, 2007, Employee was seen in the Alaska Regional Emergency Room for ongoing pain along the left occiput to the front, and in his left AC area.  Employee also reported pain in his right hip area where he was kicked, and thought he had some sciatica from that. Another CT scan of the head was taken to eliminate possibility of intracranial hemorrhage, which was found to be negative.  Employee was given morphine and Phenergan, and referred to follow-up with his practitioner.  Id.

30) On January 31, 2007, Dr. Skala treated Employee for hearing loss, acute head pain, left arm pain, neck pain with bilateral radiculopathy and right hand pain.  Dr. Skala referred Employee to Dr. Makim for evaluation of multiple neurologic issues.  Id.

31) On February 5, 2007, Dr. Skala treated Employee for right hearing loss, acute Cephalgic, neck pain radicular to left arm and right hand numbness.  Dr. Skala noted, “Patient here for follow-up with w/c back pain where patient’s symptoms are about the same.”  Dr. Skala also noted tremors and anxiety.  Employee was prescribed Xanax for Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) / anxiety. An MRI was ordered due to persistent symptoms.  (Skala Chart Note, February 5, 2007; Stipulation of Facts at 4, December 5, 2011.)

32) On February 8, 2007, Dr. Skala completed paperwork restricting Employee from work for eight weeks.  Id.

33) On February 8, 2007, Employee had a cervical spine MRI.  The impression was of minor degenerative appearing anterolisthesis at C7-T1, status post anterior spinal fusion from C5-C7; no disk herniations or nerve root encroachment was identified.  Id.

34) On February 8, 2007, Employee had a brain MRI; the impression was no convincing acute intracranial abnormality and scattered white matter hyperintensities, compatible with early chronic small vessel ischemic disease.  In an addendum, Dr. Winn noted a 3 mm metallic, radiopaque foreign body in the medial aspect of the anterior left orbit.  The origin of this foreign body is unclear.  Id. at 5.

35) On February 8, 2007, Dr. Scala treated Employee and noted acute neck pain with extreme limited ROM and radicular symptoms to hand, right hand numbness, left hearing loss acute; cephalgia - severe. On February 9, 2007, Dr. Skala prescribed Percocet.  Id.

36) On February 9, 2007, Employee had a lumber spine MRI; the impression was moderate multilevel lumbar disk degeneration, most pronounced at L4-5 where there was marked disk space narrowing and minor narrowing of the neuroforamen, as well as mild degenerative retrolisthesis at L4-5.  Id.

37) On February 9, 2007, Employee also had a thoracic spine MRI; the impression was of a tiny left paracentral disk osteophyte complexes at T6-7 and T7-8, noncompressive, minor S-type thoracic scoliosis, and found evidence of prior anterior spinal fusion from C5-7.  Id.

38) On February 12, 2007, Dr. Skala treated Employee for multiple pain symptoms attributed to assault.  Dr. Skala noted tremors in the right hand, anxious mood and blunted affect.  
Dr. Skala referred Employee to a neurologist.  Id.

39) On February 21, 2007, Dr. Jay Makim treated Employee.  Neurological work-up was done. Employee stated he was unable to do anything and stays home.  Medications for pain control, insomnia, muscle relaxant and anxiety were discussed, a physical therapy referral was filled out, and MRI’s of Employee’s brain, C-spine with and without contrast and L-spine were 
ordered.  Id.

40) On February 27, 2007, Dr. Skala treated Employee for assessment of neck pain with bilateral radiculopathy and thoracic back pain.  Medications were discussed and Employee was prescribed a TENS Unit.  Id.

41) On February 28, 2007, Employee began physical therapy with Advanced Physical Therapy at a frequency of three times per week for four weeks.  Id.

42) On March 9, 2007, Dr. Skala treated Employee and noted physical therapy had been helping some.  She referred Employee to a victims’ rights program for counseling for perceived PTSD as a result of the assault.  Dr. Skala wanted the employee to begin using the TENS Unit at home and she planned to call Providence about possibly referring him for occupational therapy.  Id.

43) On March 16, 2007, Dr. Skala treated Employee and noted right elbow pain, along with the previous symptoms, including low back symptoms and presence of palpable tenderness.  She also noted Employee was depressed, stating under non-workers’ compensation, there would be a follow-up after x-rays of Employee’s right elbow scheduled for March 19, 2007 and lab work.  On the physician’s report of the same date, she wrote Employee was not medically stable, and would not be released for work for another eight weeks.  Id. at 6.

44) On March 23, 2007, Dr. Skala treated Employee’s right elbow and discussed Employee’s return to work with restrictions.  Dr. Skala cautioned Employee not to take his medications while driving.  Id.

45) On March 29, 2007, Employee’s physical therapist noted Employee returned to work with only mild stiffness in his neck.  Id.

46) On April 19, 2007, Employee’s physical therapist noted Employee’s pain in his cervical spine disturbs his sleep and prevents his return to work.  He also noted significant anxiety and PTSD, as well as forgetfulness, and recommended psychological testing as well as occupational therapy.  Id.

47) On June 5, 2007, Dr. Skala treated Employee for neck pain with radiculopathy, low back pain and left foot paristhesias.  Employee was done with driving for the school year but would need to find work for the summer.  Employee usually drove a large truck for construction.  
Dr. Skala also noted blunted affect, a depressed mood and anxiety.  Id.  She indicated Employee should use a TENS unit and be consistent with physical therapy exercises.  (Skala Chart Note, June 5, 2007.)

48) On September 4, 2007, Dr. Skala treated Employee for chronic neck pain, depression, possible PTSD, thoracic pain, right arm pain and right rib pain.  Dr. Skala noted Employee was driving a bus.  (Stipulation of Facts at 6, December 5, 2011.)

49) The last treatment note available from Advanced Physical Therapy was dated April 19, 2007.  On September 4, 2007, Dr. Skala noted she wanted Employee to restart physical therapy.  Id.

50) On September 11, 2007, Dr. Skala treated Employee for complaints of neck pain, head pain and an episode of blacking out.  Dr. Skala took Employee off work and noted he cannot drive.  Id.

51) On September 27, 2007, Dr. Skala treated Employee for a follow up regarding no driving. Employee was still having dizziness and fuzzy feeling in his head.  Dr. Skala noted Employee appeared depressed.  She ordered Employee off work until further evaluation.  Id.

52) On October 17, 2007, Employee was seen in the Alaska Regional Emergency Room for complaints of bleeding from a chin laceration and blackout.  A head CT scan came back negative.  The diagnoses at discharge were scalp contusion, chin laceration and post concussive syndrome.  Id.

53) On November 13, 2007, Mary Margaret Hillstrand, ANP at the Advanced Medical Centers of Alaska, evaluated Employee. Employee stated he spent most of his time watching television or working on his computer.  Ms. Hillstrand noted his affect was constricted and his mood was anxious and depressed; the impression was episodes of loss of consciousness, possibly seizure, essential tremor, Hepatitis C and cervical fusion.  She ordered an electroencephalogram (EEG) and lab work, and started him on Lyrica.  Id. at 7.

54) Ms. Hillstrand added an addendum to the previous chart note.  She noted some small vessel ischemic disease on his February 8, 2007 MRI, and was hoping to find an answer to his episodes of loss of consciousness.  Ms. Hillstrand felt they sounded like seizures, and noted he may need vascular studies of his neck and possibly heart to rule out cardiovascular causes.  Id.

55) On November 16, 2007, Employee had an EEG; the impression was it was likely a normal EEG during awake and drowsy states. There was significant artifact related to movements making the study somewhat limited, and there did appear to be a normal background rhythm and no focal abnormalities or seizure activity was seen.  Id.

56) On November 27, 2007, Ms. Hillstrand treated Employee and assessed head injury, disorders of consciousness, and depression with anxiety.  Employee was advised not to drive and to continue taking Lyrica.  Id.

57) On November 27, 2007, Catherine Barrett, ANP BC-CS, conducted an initial psychiatric intake evaluation of Employee. Employee stated there is grief and loss associated with the fact he will not be able to drive a bus again, because once you have had seizures even if you are stable on medications you can no longer operate a vehicle such as a school bus.  He denied any history of any psychosis, mania, hypomania, or obsessive-compulsive disorder, as well as any inpatient psychiatric history.  Employee stated he had had substance abuse rehabilitation, for intravenous drug use as well as alcohol abuse and reported chronic pain in his head, neck, shoulder, mid and low back since January of 2007, including severe headaches.  He also stated he was hearing voices in his head.  Ms. Barrett’s diagnoses were mood disorder secondary to medical condition; major depression, recurrent; post-traumatic stress disorder, provisional; polysubstance abuse in full-sustained remission since 1989; and nicotine dependent in full-sustained remission since 1991.  Employee was referred to psychiatrist Dr. Von Hafften, as Ms. Barrett felt Employee may be a candidate for a second generation atypical due to the severe extent of his anxiety and his reporting hearing voices, which did not occur until after he started having seizures.  Id.

58) On December 6, 2007, Dr. Skala saw Employee in follow-up for right shoulder pain.  
Dr. Skala indicated Employee was not medically stable, and was not released for work.  Id.

59) On December 6, 2007, Employee had an x-ray series of his right shoulder; the impression was acromioclavicular osteoarthritis.  Id. at 8.

60) On December 11, 2007, Ms. Barrett treated Employee.  Employee stated he was still waking up even with Lunesta, clonazepam helped calm him at night, he was still taking tramadol, he did not feel as anxious with the clonazepam, was often fearful someone was in the house, saw shadows, and he still heard the accusatory voices.  Ms. Barrett assessed mood disorder secondary to medical condition, major depression recurrent, posttraumatic stress disorder provisional, psychosis NOS secondary to medical condition as well as polysubstance abuse and nicotine dependence in remission.  Id.

61) On December 20, 2007, Employee was picked up at his home by the Anchorage Police Department.  The police report stated Employee had a traumatic brain injury and hallucinations, as well as increased paranoia.  When asked if he was having thoughts of hurting himself or others, Employee said it was “getting to that point.”  Id.

62) Employee was admitted to Providence Alaska Medical Center (PAMC) from December 20, 2007 through December 28, 2007, for psychiatric treatment.  Id.  Upon being admitted to the PAMC Emergency Room, it was noted Employee has been treated for depression throughout much of his life.  (PAMC Emergency Admit Report at 2, December 20, 2007.)  On discharge, it was determined Employee had experienced an altered mental state secondary to drug interaction toxicity.  Employee still noted some other symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder, but these were also improved.  (Stipulation of Facts at 8, December 5, 2011.)

63) On January 2, 4, and 7, 2008, Ms. Barrett and Ms. Hillstrand treated Employee at Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska in follow up to his hospital stay in December and continued to monitor Employee’s medications and mental status, which seemed to be improved.  Employee noted he still occasionally had flashbacks to the beating he sustained.  Id.

64) On January 4, 2008, Dr. Skala treated Employee for complaints of right shoulder pain and ordered an MRI.  Id.

65) On January 8, 2008, Employee had a right shoulder MRI; the impression was a superior labral tear with proximal long head biceps tendinitis; mild supraspinatus tendinitis; mild subscapularis tendinitis associated with partial subluxation of the proximal part of the biceps’ long head; and irregular and probably macerated or partially torn anterior and posterior labra.  Id.

66) On January 25, 2008, Ms. Barrett treated Employee and continued to monitor his medications and mental status.  Employee reported he was still not driving, he was keeping busy, and was no longer having paranoia at home, but was still having paranoia when he went out.  When he was around groups of people, out of the house, he occasionally still had flashbacks to the beating.  He is very easily startled and it triggers events of the beating.  Ms. Barrett reviewed the case with Ms. Hillstrand, who was supposed to contact psychiatrist Dr. Nassar for a second opinion.  Id.

67) On February 5, 2008, Dr. Richard Strohmeyer evaluated Employee’s shoulder.  Employee reported he was unable to drive his own car because of seizures and his shoulder pain was getting worse.  Dr. Strohmeyer’s impression was shoulder pain one year post injury with no apparent significant injury on MRI to rotator cuff; C5 deficit right arm post multilevel cervical fusion; hypertension; Hepatitis C; head injury; and seizure disorder.  Dr. Strohmeyer recommended physical therapy, as the presence of a seizure disorder would put at risk any surgical result.  Id. at 9.

68) On February 11, 2008, Dr. Skala wrote a letter to claims adjuster Vicki Finke.  Dr. Skala opined Employee would benefit from a pressure relieving mattress, stating while Employee may have had pre-existing conditions, he had been performing his job to full capacity until the time of injury.  Id.

69) On February 15, 2008, Dr. Robert Gieringer treated Employee for right shoulder pain.  His impression was a labral tear in the right shoulder.  Dr. Gieringer recommended surgery as soon as possible.  Id.

70) On February 19, 2008, Ms. Hillstrand treated Employee and stated Employee continues to have pain in his right shoulder and is continuing to work with mental health regarding post traumatic stress disorder related to an assault in January 2007.  She stated an EEG had been completed at an earlier date because of Employee’s reported blackouts.  There had been a concern he was having seizures.  The EEG was found to be normal and the seizure disorder was ruled out.  Ms. Hillstrand also stated at that time Employee did not present with a neurologic illness.  Id.

71) On February 20, 2008, Employee had a brain MRI; the impression was stable minimal microangiography and mild atrophy with no acute intracranial abnormality.  Id.

72) On February 20, 2008, Employee also had a thoracic spine MRI; the impression was a new small right paracentral disk bulge at T2-3 without other interval change; minimal left paracentral disk bulges at T6-7 and T7-8, which were not as well seen but were generally stable; and stable mild scoliosis.  Id.

73) On February 25, 2008, Employee began treatment at Advanced Physical Therapy for right shoulder pain, two times per week for four weeks.  Id.

74) On February 26, 2008, Ms. Barrett treated Employee and reported he was doing better, with the continued assessment of psychosis not otherwise specified; major depressive disorder; PTSD; and history of polysubstance abuse.  Id.

75) On March 3, 2008, Employee was seen for physical therapy.  Employee reported he was supposed to go to Portland for an employer’s independent medical evaluation (EME) and stated he is paranoid and afraid to leave his house much less go to Portland.  Id.

76) The employee was seen for physical therapy on March 5, 10 and 12, 2008 before going to his EME.  Id. at 10.

77) On March 17, 2008, Dr. Steven Schilperoot and Dr. Gerald Reimer evaluated Employee for an EME.  Employee’s chief complaints were of headache, neck pain, bilateral shoulder pain, midback pain, low back pain, right knee pain, numbness left great toe, numbness both hands, and sciatic pain right leg.  With respect to the right knee claim, Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer noted there was no mention of any right knee condition appearing anywhere in the medical records spanning fourteen months of evaluation and treatment.  They noted Employee had a substantial propensity for symptom exaggeration as there was absolutely no reference to a right knee problem.  With respect to the right shoulder, Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer noted no shoulder symptoms appeared in the records until a December 6, 2007 encounter with Dr. Skala, more than ten months after the injury.  Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer concluded no right shoulder condition pathology can be causally related to the January 22, 2007 injury.  With respect to the left shoulder, Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer noted complaints of symptoms in the left shoulder could be implied by the January 22, 2007 ER visit and the appointment with Dr. Skala on January 24, 2007.  However, Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer noted it was important there is no specific record of any reference in the medical records, either by providers or by physical therapy, to the left shoulder since February 12, 2007, which was more than a year prior to their examination.  They also noted this would imply while the initial left shoulder complaints could be related, they had since resolved.  With respect to the low back complaints, Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer felt it was possible the injury caused symptomatic aggravation of pre-existing lumbar spine degenerative arthritis.  They noted, however, between March 16, 2007 and December 6, 2007, there is no mention of low back symptoms.  Noting Employee has a pre-existing degenerative condition in his low back, Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer conclude the aggravation of this condition by the injury was temporary in nature.  Regarding complaints of neck pain, Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer state primary neck pathology associated with the January 22, 2007 episode is clearly present and there is a high probability contusions, and possibly even a soft tissue strain, were incurred as a direct and sole consequence of the January 22, 2007 episode.  At the time of their examination, Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer felt these conditions were again stable.  With respect to Employee’s reported symptoms of numbness and tingling in both hands, Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer stated such altered sensations were specifically excluded in the February 19, 2008 encounter visit with Ms. Hillstrand.  On their examination of Employee, Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer found his complaints to be, “completely non-anatomic”.  In summary, Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer concluded the following: “As regards the neck, midback, low back and left shoulder, the substantial cause of the need for treatment is the January 22, 2007 episode. As regards all other claimed symptomatic anatomic locations, either pre-existing conditions not aggravated by the January 22, 2007 episode, or conditions evolving subsequent to the January 22, 2007 episode, are considered the substantial cause in any need for evaluation or treatment.”  Id. at 10-11.

78) On March 23, 2008, Dr. Ronald Turco evaluated Employee for a psychiatric EME. Employee stated he did drive but it was limited to 3-4 miles.  Employee also stated he had wanted to work until he was 65 years of age and then he thought he would just “walk away”. Employee also told Dr. Turco Employee was barred from obtaining a commercial driver’s license because he had taken anti-seizure medications and the regulation is anyone who has ever taken anti-seizure medication is ineligible for a commercial driver’s license.  Dr. Turco found Employee did not appear to be exaggerating his difficulties, nor did he appear to be in any particular distress, either emotional or physical.  Dr. Turco also found Employee’s thought processes, affective responses, general appearance and cognitive responses were entirely normal.  Dr. Turco’s diagnostic impression of Employee’s complaints and conditions were major depressive disorder, recurrent in nature, and partially in remission.  He opined it was chronic and not injury related.  Dr. Turco noted post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms, but opined these did not meet the full criteria for post-traumatic stress disorder.  Employee’s ability to return to work indicated he was not avoiding the traumatic stimulus.  (Turco EME Report, March 23, 2008.)  The complaints of PTSD were subjective in nature and not substantiated by any psychological testing.  The psychological testing performed by Dr. Turco reflected chronic psychological disturbance and unhappiness associated with anxiety, depression, difficulties in thinking and physical and somatic preoccupation; not an acute phenomena.  Rather, present throughout Employee’s life.  Dr. Turco found the injury itself not to be the “cause” of Employee’s psychiatric disturbance but it did contribute in the context of increasing his symptoms temporarily.  Dr. Turco stated following the event in question, the substantial factors contributing to Employee’s difficulties related to the assault on January 22, 2007; however, Employee’s difficulties related to pre-existing problems associated with his entire life and a chronic, recurrent depressive disorder.  Dr. Turco opined Employee experienced an adjustment disorder / increase in depressive symptoms associated with the event of January 22, 2007, which was in remission within three to six months following that event.  He also opined any further treatment related to Employee’s psychiatric difficulties was due to the work incident, had been completed and Employee was medically stable within six months following the assault.  (Stipulation of Facts at 11, December 5, 2011).

79) On April 1, 2008, Ms. Hillstrand discussed the EMEs with Employee, although she did not have the reports yet.  Employee stated he was continuing to have some episodes where he felt somewhat “disconnected”.  Ms. Hillstrand noted Employee was scheduled to see a psychiatrist at Langdon Clinic and also his EEG showed no epileptiform activity.  They discussed Employee’s shoulder problem, and decided to continue the use of Lyrica.  Id.

80) On April 2, 2008, Dr. Ramzi Nassar evaluated Employee.  Dr. Nassar stated, based on the history provided to him, it appeared Employee was suffering from posttraumatic stress disorder secondary to the assault and he may require further treatment.  Dr. Nassar found subjectively Employee was having some cognitive difficulties, and at some point in time neuropsychological testing may be indicated.  Regarding the blackout or seizure, Dr. Nassar noted Eemployee had not had any since he had been taken off tramadol, and that, coupled with being on a medicine such as Cymbalta, could significantly predispose one to having complications from the tramadol, which included seizures.  Dr. Nassar was concerned about Employee taking clonazepam due to his longstanding, but distant history of polysubstance use disorder.  Dr. Nassar’s recommendations included continued use of Cymbalta, possible use of prazosin for nightmares, weaning off of clonazepam, counseling and psychotherapy for treating post-traumatic stress disorder, along with medications and possible neuropsychological evaluation if his cognitive deficits were prominent and consistent.  Id. at 11-12.

81) On April 14, 2008, Ms. Barrett treated Employee.  Employee stated, “I am frustrated, I have this pain in both my arms, I am still waiting to hear from Worker’s Comp...I do not want to do anything...I still get scared around people, I get afraid when my dog comes up behind me.” Ms. Barrett’s assessment was psychosis not otherwise specified, major depression disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder.  Id. at 12.

82) On April 25, 2008, the claims adjuster filed a controversion notice, controverting all benefits based on Drs. Schilperoort, Reimer and Turco’s EME reports.  Id.

83) On May 27, 2008, Ms. Hillstrand treated Employee.  Her assessment was familial (benign essential) tremor, mental status change, post-traumatic stress disorder and symptoms referable to a joint of the shoulder region.  Employee was very concerned regarding the outcome of his workers’ compensation case.  Employee stated he was miserable with his right shoulder and planned to see Dr. Gieringer regardless of the workers’ compensation issues.  Ms. Hillstrand stated Dr. Nassar agreed to see Employee for any acute treatment but was unable to continue working with him.  Id.

84) On June 5, 2008, Dr. Robert Gieringer performed an exam of the right shoulder under anesthesia, arthroscopic exam of right shoulder with type II SLAP repair, and debridement of mild grade 2 chondromalacia.  The preoperative diagnosis was a right shoulder injury with type II SLAP lesion.  The postoperative diagnosis was a right shoulder injury with type II SLAP lesion with mild small areas of grade 2 and grade 3 chondromalacia of the humerus.  
Dr. Gieringer noted during the surgery the type II SLAP lesion was very mild and probably was one which had gone ahead to heal in a chronic fashion, somewhat detached.  Id.

85) On June 10, 2008, Ms. Barrett treated Employee.  Employee stated he felt “pretty good”, he had had the shoulder surgery the week before, and used his private insurance.  Ms. Barrett encouraged him to contact Veteran’s Affairs (VA) for counseling, stating he may not be able to move forward until the workers’ compensation case settled.  Ms. Barrett wrote, "it appears that the patient does meet the criteria for post-traumatic stress disorder, history of polysubstance abuse in full sustained remission times 19-1/2 years and history of nicotine dependence.”  Id.

86) On both June 19, 2008, and June 23, 2008, Dr. Gieringer completed physician’s reports in which he wrote Employee’s condition was work related and Employee was not medically stable.  Id.

87) On June 23, 2008, Dr. Gieringer treated Employee for a two week post-operative follow up, and referred Employee to physical therapy.  Employee appeared to be making good progress. On June 23, 2008, Dr. Gieringer wrote Employee was not medically stationary and estimated not releasing him to work for three months.  Id. at 13.

88) On July 21, 2008, Dr. Gieringer treated Employee for a six week post-operative follow up. Dr. Gieringer continued Employee’s physical therapy and planned to start Employee on rehabilitation.  Dr. Gieringer also stated he would deal with the left shoulder at the next appointment.  Employee asked Dr. Gieringer to write him a letter supporting a reversal of the controversion of his case.  Dr. Gieringer declined, stating he would not get further involved in the case other than as the treating physician.  Dr. Gieringer wrote Employee was not medically stationary and estimated not releasing him for work.  Dr. Gieringer then stated:

I read over the independent medical evaluation by Drs. Reimer and Schilperoort and I can only conclude that it is very cleverly contrived and worded to an extent that I don't feel that I have any statements to make, other than the fact that this is an extremely disappointing turn of events in Mr. Wagner’s case.  He clearly was severely beaten by a student and clearly has a change in his physical and mental abilities since the injury of January 21, 2007.  They have rather vaguely worded their opinion to the extent that there were some pre-existing conditions that make this case hard to determine.  I told Bernard that he needs to get his attorney to move on this, otherwise, I don't see there is anything I can do.

Id.

89) On August 7, 2008, Dr. Gieringer answered a questionnaire, stating the incident of January 22, 2007 was a substantial factor in Employee’s medical condition, Employee was not medically stable, needed medical treatment for his shoulder in the form of rehabilitation for six weeks, and he incurred a ratable permanent partial impairment.  Id.

90) On August 25, 2008, Dr. Gieringer treated Employee and noted Employee was 11 weeks post-operative and was still having some pain with range of motion in the right shoulder.  
Dr. Gieringer opined Employee was not medically stable.  Employee stated he quit physical therapy because he could not afford it and workers’ compensation had denied his claim.  An exam of the left shoulder was done; the impression was of a left shoulder injury.  Dr. Gieringer did not think the left shoulder was going to need surgery, but opined Employee just had a stiff shoulder, which would resolve with home exercise and perhaps another injection.  As Employee was getting no benefit from physical therapy, Dr. Gieringer decided to give him an injection.  Id.

91) On October 8, 2008, Dr. Gieringer’s office filed a Workers’ Compensation Claim for medical costs, stating the injury Employee had sustained was directly related to the attack in which he was punched and kicked by a student, and also stated Employee had no previous injury to the left shoulder and the injury was the direct need for medical care.  Id.

92) SLAP lesions are caused by acute traumatic episodes; sudden traction injuries to the arm, and repetitive micro-trauma.  (Experience, observations, and inferences drawn from the above.)

93) On November 24, 2008, Employer answered and controverted Dr. Gieringer’s claims.  Id. at 14.

94) On December 10, 2008, Employer filed a Notice of Possible Claim Against the Second Injury Fund.  Id.

95) On January 4, 2009, Dr. Joseph Pace filled out a questionnaire concerning Employee’s mental condition.  Dr. Pace opined the January 22, 2007 incident was the significant factor in precipitating and combining with other factors to produce Employee’s mental condition of PTSD.  He also opined Employee’s increased discomfort from physical injuries lead to emotional stress, Employee was not medically stable, and Employee needed targeted psychotherapy to assist him in recovery from stress and getting back into the workforce.  
Dr. Pace did not provide a permanent partial impairment rating because he did not have access to the AMA Guidelines book.  Id.

96) On January 13, 2009, Employee was admitted to the VA hospital. The problems identified were mental health issues; PTSD and co-dependency, homelessness, unemployed, lack of financing, lack of meaningful recreation activities and lack of sober social support.  Id.

97) On January 14, 2009, Employee continued treatment at the VA hospital. It was noted he had a known chronic condition of neck and spine pain, and a cervical fusion sometime in the past.  It was also noted Employee had pain in his thoracic and lumbar spine.  Employee had a full physical exam and nothing new was noted.  Id.

98) On January 16, 2009, Employee had chest x-rays at the VA hospital; the impression was chronic interstitial change with no pneumonia, mild scoliosis with straightening of the lordotic curvature, and post surgery to the thoracocervical junction with plate and screw fixation.  Id.

99) On January 21, 2009, notes were made concerning Employee’s ongoing care at the VA hospital, where he sought admission due to his homelessness and PTSD.  It was noted Employee reported his PTSD and depression symptoms began while in the United States Marine Corps between 1972-74, and he had no significant psychological symptoms until he had some abuse from a commanding officer, even though there is indication of childhood abuse, exposure to domestic violence and parental alcoholism.  It was also noted in 2007, he reported what sounded like another traumatic event while employed as a school bus driver, where Employee reportedly tried to intervene to stop two teenagers from fighting when one of them turned his rage upon Employee.  He was reportedly knocked down and severely stomped and kicked in the back and head by a ranting teen, larger than Employee.  The initial diagnostic impression was: PTSD, chronic, possible military and civilian etiologies, major depression, recurrent moderate history of alcohol and drug abuse, reportedly in sustained full remission since 1989 or longer rule out cognitive impairment.  Employee reported due to his chronic psychological symptoms, he desired to have his workers’ compensation reinstated, or to apply for VA compensation or Social Security disability, and he had an interest to return to school for training as a radiologist.  Id. at 14-15.

100) On January 23, 2009, Employee was seen by a social worker at the VA hospital. It was noted Employee was feeling anxious about going to court (for his divorce).  The social worker noted Employee appeared to have decreased depressive symptoms as a result of decreased psychosocial stressors (being homeless vs. entering the hospital).  Major depression, recurrent, and mild PTSD is also noted.  Id. at 15.

101) On June 24, 2009, Employee filed a Petition for an SIME.  Id.

102) On June 24, 2009, Employee filed a Workers’ Compensation Claim for injuries to his left shoulder, right shoulder, head, neck (cervical disc degeneration) and back (lumbar disc degeneration L4-5).  He also claimed depression and PTSD.  Employee claimed TTD, medical costs, transportation, interest and attorney’s fees and costs.  Id.

103) On July 15, 2009, Employer answered and controverted Employee’s claim.  Id.

104) On November 30, 2009, Dr. Leon Chandler treated Employee for complaints of neck and left arm pain.  Dr. Chandler stated there did not appear to be a significant injury to the plate or the fusion mass and referred him back to Dr. Kralick.  Id.

105) On December 15, 2009, Candace Hickel, PA-C signed a questionnaire for Dr. Kralick regarding Employee’s treatment.  She diagnosed the cause of his symptoms to be an exacerbation of pre-existing condition due to assault in 2007.  She opined the January 22, 2007 incident was the substantial factor in his symptoms, she expected further measurable improvement to result from further treatment and Employee was not medically stable.  She also opined the medical treatment needed was pain management, physical therapy and possible future surgery. She did not determine a date of medical stability and stated a permanent partial impairment rating was unknown.  Id.

106) On December 29, 2009, Employer filed a Controversion Notice of TTD benefits related to Employee’s cervical injury, based on Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer’s March 17, 2008 
EIME report.  Id.

107) On January 7, 2010, Dr. Chandler treated Employee for neck and left arm pain. The question was whether or not the anterior cervical fusion plate was injured during the trauma and may have to be replaced or modified in some manner.  Dr. Chandler’s impression was: intact fusion of C5, C6, and C7; plates and screws for the fusion appeared to be intact; slight ligamentous laxity is seen above the fusion mass, particularly in the left oblique view; the facets are growing into the foramen on the right oblique view but minimal and no serious foraminal stenosis was noted.  Dr. Chandler’s conclusion was an excellent fusion with plates and screws intact at C5, C6, and C7.  Posterior alignment was well maintained and there appeared to be no significant osteophyte changes to the vertebral bodies.  Id. at 15-16.

108) On February 1, 2010, Employee did not show for his appointment with Dr. Chandler.  Id. at 16.

109) On February 3, 2010, Dr. Chandler assessed post fusion syndrome at C5-C6, cervical with headaches and neck pain, chronic depression and degenerative disc disease multilevel in cervical spine.  The plan was to do diagnostic medial branch blocks and radio-frequency lessening of the more problematic areas.  Id.

110) On March 9, 2010, Employee cancelled his appointment with Dr. Chandler.  Id.

111) On March 16, 2010, Employee did not show for his appointment with Dr. Chandler.  Id.

112) On March 17, 2010, Employee cancelled his appointment with Dr. Chandler.  Id.

113) On April 1, 2010, Dr. Chandler performed a Medial Branch Block at the Alaska Spine Center.  The pre-operative and post-operative diagnoses were cervical degenerative disc disease.  Id.

114) On April 19, 2010, Dr. Chandler followed up on Employee’s diagnostic Medial Branch Block and assessed post fusion cervical spine multilevel from trauma, degenerative disc disease multilevel above the fusion mass as well as in the fusion mass with C6 and C7 radiculopathy into the right hand with hyper-reflexia in the biceps and triceps over the right, and headaches and neck pain secondary to the above.  Id.

115) On April 23, 2010, Employee had an injection of the right C6 and right C7 nerve roots under fluoroscopic guidance.  The pre-operative and post-operative diagnoses were cervical degenerative disc disease, cervical radiculopathy and cervicalgia.  Id.

116) On May 5, 2010, Dr. Chandler reviewed Employee’s medication and treated Employee’s chronic head and neck pain.  Dr. Chandler assessed cervical degenerative disc disease post fusion at C5, C6, and C7, bilateral C6 radiculopahthy, right greater than left, with significant pain and weakness of the right upper extremity, possible pneumonia or possible liver problems with ascites and weight gain of 20 pounds in one month, etiology undetermined.  Id.

117) On May 13, 2010, Employee did not keep his appointment with Dr. Susan Klimow.  Id.

118) On June 15, 2010, the parties signed a Partial Compromise and Release Agreement.  Employer agreed to a settlement sum of $200,000.00 without any offset or deduction.  Medical providers were paid past medical costs of $4,309.15.  Employee was paid $15,690.85 in a lump sum, of which $2,902.00 was considered payment for out of pocket medicals.  The parties recognized the American Postal Workers Union Health Plan asserted a lien in the amount of $22,058.63 for benefits paid on behalf of Employee.  Employer agreed to a settlement of $180,000.00 paid to purchase a Life Annuity by and through New Your Life Insurance & Annuity Corporation.  The State of Alaska, Second Injury Fund (SIF) agreed to reimburse Employer the sum of $125,000.000 within thirty days after Employer submitted proof to the SIF the annuity payment had been made.  Employee waived his entitlement to any and all past, present, and future compensation benefits which might be due under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act, arising from or necessitated by the January 22, 2007 incident, including any claim for a compensation rate adjustment.  Employee waived his entitlement to reemployment benefits.  Employee reserved his entitlement, if any, to future medical and related benefits under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act and Employer reserved all defenses to claims for medical and related benefits which could be asserted by Employee.  Employer agreed to pay attorney’s fees and costs of $20,150.00 directly to Employee’s attorney.  Employee released Employer from any and all liability for the benefits waived through the agreement.  Employee waived any right to a Second Independent Medical Examination (SIME).  The parties agreed to litigate any entitlement to medical benefits based on the then current written record. Controversion notices properly filed and served remained in effect.  Id. at 16-17.

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-34 (Alaska 1987).

AS 23.30.010. Coverage. (a) Except as provided in (b) of this section, compensation or benefits are payable under this chapter for disability or death or the need for medical treatment of an employee if the disability or death of the employee or the employee’s need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment.  To establish a presumption under AS 23.30.120(a)(1) that the disability or death or the need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the employee must establish a causal link between the employment and the disability or death or the need for medical treatment.  A presumption may be rebutted by a demonstration of substantial evidence that the death or disability or the need for medical treatment did not arise out of and in the course of the employment.  When determining whether or not the death or disability or need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability or death or the need for medical treatment.  Compensation or benefits under this chapter are payable for the disability or death or the need for medical treatment if, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability or death or need for medical treatment.

A finding reasonable persons would find employment was a cause of the Employee’s disability and impose liability is, “as are all subjective determinations, the most difficult to support.”  Id. at 534.  

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. . . . 

A work-related injury may result in temporary treatment to restore an employee to pre-injury condition, without necessarily being the substantial cause in bringing about the need for all future medical treatment of the underlying condition.  O’Hara v. Carr-Gottstein Foods Safeway Inc., Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 093 at 16 (December 4, 2008).  
AS 23.30.120 Presumptions 

(a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; …

Under AS 23.30.120(a)(1), benefits sought by an injured worker are presumed to be compensable.  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).  The presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute.  Id. (emphasis omitted).  The presumption application involves a three-step analysis.  To attach the presumption of compensability, an employee must first establish a “preliminary link” between his or her injury and the employment.  See, e.g., Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 610 (Alaska 1999).  For injuries occurring after the 2005 amendments to the Act, if the employee establishes the link, the presumption may be overcome at the second stage when the employer presents substantial evidence which demonstrates a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing the disability or need for medical treatment.  Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 150 at 7 (March 25, 2011).  Because the board considers the employer’s evidence by itself and does not weigh the employee’s evidence against the employer’s rebuttal evidence, credibility of the parties and witnesses is not examined at the second stage.  See, e.g., Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869-870 (Alaska 1985).  
If the board finds the employer’s evidence is sufficient, the presumption of compensability drops out and the employee must prove her case by a preponderance of the evidence, that in relation to other causes, employment was the substantial cause of the disability or need for medical treatment.  Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 150 at 8 (March 25, 2011).  An evaluation of the relative contribution of different causes of the disability or need for medical treatment must be conducted and benefits awarded if employment is, in relation to all other causes, “the substantial cause” of the disability, death or need for medical treatment.  City of Seward v. Hansen, Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 146 at 11-14 (Jan. 21, 2011).  When causes are compared, only one cause can be “the substantial cause.”  Id.  The employee must “induce a belief” in the minds of the fact finders the facts being asserted are probably true.  See Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  In the third step, the evidence is weighed, inferences are drawn from the evidence, and credibility is considered.

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  

The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

The board’s finding of credibility “is binding for any review of the Board’s factual findings.”  Smith v. CSK Auto, Inc., 204 P.3d 1001, 1008 (Alaska 2009).  The board has the sole power to determine witness credibility, and its findings about weight are conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting.  See, e.g., Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146, 153 (Alaska 2007); Thoeni v. Consumer Electronic Services, 151 P.3d 1249, 1253 (Alaska 2007); Municipality of Anchorage v. Devon, 124 P.3d 424, 431 (Alaska 2005).  The board has the sole discretion to determine the weight of the medical testimony and reports.  When doctors’ opinions disagree, the board determines which has greater credibility.  Moore v. Afognak Native Corp., Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 087 at 11 (Aug. 25, 2008).

8 AAC 45.050.  Pleadings.

. . .

(f) Stipulations.

(1) If a claim or petition has been filed and the parties agree that there is no dispute as to any material fact . . . a stipulation of facts signed by all parties may be filed, consenting to the immediate filing of an order based upon the stipulation of facts.


(2) Stipulations between the parties may be made at any time in writing before the close of the record, or may be made orally in the course of a hearing or a prehearing.

(3) Stipulations of fact or to procedures are binding upon the parties to the stipulation and have the effect of an order unless the board, for good cause, relieves a party from the terms of the stipulation.  A stipulation waiving an employee’s right to benefits under the Act is not binding unless the stipulation is submitted in the form of an agreed settlement, conforms to AS 23.30.012 and 8 AAC 45.160, and is approved by the board.

 
(4) The board will, in its discretion, base its findings upon the facts as they appear from the evidence, or cause further evidence or testimony to be taken, or order an investigation into the matter as prescribed by the Act, any stipulation to the contrary notwithstanding.

ANALYSIS

Is Employee entitled to future medical treatment for his shoulders, neck, back and mental conditions?

The presumption of compensability applies to this factual dispute.  Employee attached the presumption of compensability with regard to these conditions based on the opinions of 
Dr. Gieringer, Dr. Pace, and Ms. Hickel, who opined Employee’s conditions and increased symptoms were caused or aggravated by his work injury.  This evidence is sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability for Employee’s medical treatment claim for his shoulders, neck, back and mental conditions.

To rebut the presumption, Employer relies on the opinions of Drs. Turco, Schilperoot and Reimer.  
Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer opined no right shoulder condition pathology is causally related to the January 22, 2007 injury.  They also opined any work-related left shoulder complaints had resolved, the work injury caused a temporary aggravation of Employee’s preexisting back condition, which had resolved, and the work injury caused a neck strain or contusion, which had also resolved.  
Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer further opined Employee’s present conditions and symptoms are due to Employee’s preexisting conditions.  Dr. Turco opined the January 22, 2007 work injury aggravated Employee’s preexisting mental conditions but the aggravation was temporary and had resolved within six months following the work injury.  Dr. Turco opined Employee’s symptoms after that date are due to his preexisting mental disorders.

Drs. Turco, Schilperoot and Reimer’s reports standing alone present substantial evidence a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing Employee’s symptoms and need for medical treatment for his shoulders, neck, back and mental conditions and symptoms.  Employer rebuts the presumption medical treatment for these conditions and symptoms is compensable.

Employee does not meet his burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence his need for continuing medical care for his shoulders, neck, back and mental conditions arose out of and in the course of his employment with Employer.  The evidence as a whole does not support Employee’s work injury or work-related aggravation is the substantial cause of his need for continuing medical treatment.   

A work-related injury may result in temporary treatment to restore an employee to pre-injury condition, without necessarily being the substantial cause in bringing about the need for all future medical treatment of the underlying condition.  Based on Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer’s credible opinions, although Employee had work-related conditions and symptoms following his January 22, 2007 work injury, these conditions and symptoms resolved and Employee’s work is not the substantial cause of Employee’s need for future medical treatment.  
Employee first injured his right shoulder in a skiing accident on January 24, 2004.  On December 6, 2007, Employee saw Dr. Skala, who noted his appointment was for a “Workers’ Compensation follow-up on right shoulder pain.”  This was, however, the first record indicating Employee had any right shoulder symptoms and the first time right shoulder symptoms were mentioned in medical records authored by Dr. Skala.  On December 6, 2007, a series of x-rays revealed Employee’s right shoulder pain was caused by acromioclavicular osteoarthritis.  

On June 5, 2008, Employee was diagnosed by Dr. Gieringer with a SLAP lesion, which he repaired arthroscopically while debriding grade 2 chondromalacia.  SLAP lesions are caused by an acute traumatic episode, a sudden traction injury to the arm, or by repetitive micro-trauma.  Employee’s job did not involve repetitive micro-trauma and had he incurred either an acute traumatic injury or a sudden traction injury, his symptoms would have been contemporaneous with the January 22, 2007 work injury.
Employee did not report right shoulder symptoms until over ten months following the work injury.  Based on this evidence, and Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer’s persuasive opinions, no right shoulder condition is causally related to Employee’s January 22, 2007 injury.  Consequently, Employee’s work is not the substantial cause of Employee’s need for future medical treatment for his right shoulder.

Based upon Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer’s credible opinions, although Employee had a work-related left shoulder condition and symptoms following his January 22, 2007 work injury, this condition and symptoms resolved by February 12, 2007.  After February 12, 2007, Employee had no further complaints regarding his left shoulder, nor did he seek treatment for his left shoulder.  Employee’s work is not the substantial cause of Employee’s need for future medical treatment for his left shoulder.  

Employee began experiencing neck pain as early as September 5, 1996.  In 2004, Employee injured his cervical and thoracic spine and right shoulder while cross-country skiing.  Additionally, in 2004, Employee frequently reported stress from work exacerbated pain in his neck and upper back prior to commencing work for Employer in the latter part of 2004.  In August 2005, Employee was diagnosed with moderately severe degenerative cervical disc disease at C5-6 and C6-7, clinical indications of cervical spinal cord involvement, and depression by Dr. Dietrich, who did not attribute any of Employee’s conditions to work.  Employee underwent an anterior diskectomy and interbody fusion at C5, C6 and C7, which was stable by October 10, 2005.  

Employee treated for thoracic and lumbar pain prior to the January 22, 2007 assault.  His pain complaints initiated after his January 24, 2004 cross-country skiing accident and were last treated before Employee’s January 22, 2007 work injury on October 29, 2004.  Prior to January 22, 2007, Employee’s back pain was consistently exacerbated by work related stress.   

After the January 22, 2007 work injury, Employee’s cervical fusion remained intact; there was no evidence of an acute fracture or malalignment; however, a CT scan did note post operative changes of Employee’s non-work related cervical fusion at C5-C7, as well as severe degenerative changes at multiple levels.  On February 8, 2007, an MRI of Employee’s cervical spine showed minor degenerative anterolisthesis at C7-T1, status post anterior spinal fusion from C5-C7; however, no disk herniations or nerve root encroachment was identified.  On February 9, 2007, an MRI of Employee’s lumbar spine showed only degenerative changes; and an MRI of Employee’s thoracic spine showed tiny left paracentral disk osteophyte complexes at T6-7 and T7-8, minor scoliosis, and degenerative changes, and evidence of C5-7 spinal fusion.  Because these findings are unrelated to the January 22, 2007 assault, work is not the substantial cause of Employee’s need for future medical treatment for his neck.  

Between March 16, 2007 and November 27, 2007, Dr. Skala’s chart notes reference low back and thoracic pain four times; however, she notes the presence of palpable tenderness only on March 16, 2007, and thereafter Dr. Skala does not discuss physical examination of Employee’s lumbar or thoracic spine.  Dr. Skala’s reports in which she notes “workers’ compensation injury follow-up” for lumbar and thoracic pain are not given weight.  

Employee had a pre-existing degenerative condition in his low back.  The January 22, 2007 work injury caused a temporary symptomatic aggravation of Employee’s pre-existing lumbar spine degenerative arthritis; however, this resolved.  Dr. Schilperoort and Reimer’s report offers the most thorough and detailed analysis regarding whether Employee’s work injury is the substantial cause of his continuing need for medical treatment.  Based upon Drs. Schilperoot and Reimer’s credible opinions, Employee’s work-related lumbar and thoracic condition and symptoms resolved and any recurrences of symptoms are those expected to occur based upon the progressive degeneration of Employee’s arthritis.  Employee’s work is not the substantial cause of Employee’s need for future medical treatment for his lumbar or thoracic spine.
Employee has had chronic depression much of his life.  After the January 22, 2007 work injury, Employee was diagnosed with PTSD by Dr. Skala, a doctor of osteopathic medicine, on February 5, 2007; she prescribed Xanax.  Employee’s physical therapist, on April 19, 2007, also noted Employee had PTSD.  On February 26, 2008, Employee was again diagnosed with PTSD by Nurse Practitioner Barrett.  Employee was admitted to PAMC from December 20, 2007 through December 28, 2007, for psychiatric treatment.  On discharge, it was determined Employee experienced an altered mental state secondary to drug interaction toxicity, unrelated to psychosis or PTSD.  Employee still noted some other symptoms of PTSD, but these were improved.  

Employee was psychiatrically evaluated at Employer’s request by Dr. Turco on March 23, 2008.  On April 2, 2008, Dr. Nassar saw Employee for a psychiatric consultation.  Dr. Nassar did not conduct any independent psychological testing; instead, he based his opinion on history provided to him.  However, the source of the history or factual history was not identified by Dr. Nassar.  Dr. Turco’s opinions and reports are given more weight than Dr. Nassar’s.  Dr. Turco reviewed Employee’s clinical psychiatric records and administered the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory-2.
Based upon Employee’s psychiatric evaluation, Dr. Turco diagnosed major depressive disorder, recurrent in nature, and partially in remission.  Employee’s depression is chronic and not injury related.  Although Employee had post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms, Employee’s ability to return to work indicated he was not avoiding the traumatic stimulus.  Consequently, Employee’s symptoms did not meet the full criteria for post-traumatic stress disorder, supporting Dr. Turco’s conclusion Employee’s complaints of PTSD were subjective in nature and not substantiated by psychological testing.  The psychological testing performed by Dr. Turco reflected chronic psychological disturbance and unhappiness associated with anxiety, depression, difficulties in thinking and physical and somatic preoccupation; not an acute phenomena and not caused by the work incident of January 22, 2007.  Rather, these psychiatric conditions have been present throughout most of Employee’s life.  Although the injury itself is not the “cause” of Employee’s psychiatric disturbance, it did contribute to increasing Employee’s symptoms temporarily.  Following the assault on January 22, 2007, the substantial factors contributing to Employee’s psychiatric disturbances included the work injury and preexisting problems associated with Employee’s entire life, including chronic, recurrent major depressive disorder.  Employee experienced an adjustment disorder and increase in depressive symptoms associated with the event of January 22, 2007, which was in remission within three to six months following that event.  We rely on Dr. Turco’s credible opinion any treatment related to Employee’s psychiatric difficulties due to the work incident has been completed and Employee was medically stable within six months following the assault; and Employee’s work injury is not the substantial cause of his continuing need for psychiatric or psychological medical treatment. 

Employer has paid all medical benefits due Employee.  The preponderance of evidence demonstrates Employee’s January 22, 2007, work injury or work-related aggravation is not the substantial cause of his continuing need for medical treatment.  Consequently, Employee’s claim for future medical care will be denied.  
CONCLUSION OF LAW

Employee’s claim for future medical treatment for his shoulders, neck, back and mental conditions will be denied.

ORDER

Employee’s claim for future medical treatment for his shoulders, neck, back and mental conditions is denied.
Dated in Anchorage, Alaska on January 6, 2012.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127.

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.
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